

Edition 5.0 2018-04

INTERNATIONAL STANDARD

NORME INTERNATIONALE

Sound system equipment TANDARD PREVIEW **Part 3: Amplifiers**

(standards.iteh.ai)

Équipements pour systèmes électroacoustiques -Partie 3: Amplificateurs dards.iteh.ai/catalog/standards/sist/95e27198-187b-4903-

8d68-0e88a804c24c/jec-60268-3-2018





THIS PUBLICATION IS COPYRIGHT PROTECTED Copyright © 2018 IEC, Geneva, Switzerland

All rights reserved. Unless otherwise specified, no part of this publication may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and microfilm, without permission in writing from either IEC or IEC's member National Committee in the country of the requester. If you have any questions about IEC copyright or have an enquiry about obtaining additional rights to this publication, please contact the address below or your local IEC member National Committee for further information.

Droits de reproduction réservés. Sauf indication contraire, aucune partie de cette publication ne peut être reproduite ni utilisée sous quelque forme que ce soit et par aucun procédé, électronique ou mécanique, y compris la photocopie et les microfilms, sans l'accord écrit de l'IEC ou du Comité national de l'IEC du pays du demandeur. Si vous avez des questions sur le copyright de l'IEC ou si vous désirez obtenir des droits supplémentaires sur cette publication, utilisez les coordonnées ci-après ou contactez le Comité national de l'IEC de votre pays de résidence.

IEC Central Office Tel.: +41 22 919 02 11

3, rue de Varembé info@iec.ch CH-1211 Geneva 20 www.iec.ch

Switzerland

About the IEC

The International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) is the leading global organization that prepares and publishes International Standards for all electrical, electronic and related technologies.

About IEC publications

The technical content of IEC publications is kept under constant review by the IEC. Please make sure that you have the latest edition, a corrigenda or an amendment might have been published.

IEC Catalogue - webstore.iec.ch/catalogue

The stand-alone application for consulting the entire bibliographical information on IEC International Standards, Technical Specifications, Technical Reports and other documents. Available for PC, Mac OS, Android Tablets and iPad

IEC publications search - webstore.iec.ch/advsearchform

The advanced search enables to find IEC publications by a 68 variety of criteria (reference number, text, technical committee,...). It also gives information on projects, replaced and withdrawn publications.

IEC Just Published - webstore.iec.ch/justpublished

Stay up to date on all new IEC publications. Just Published details all new publications released. Available online and also once a month by email.

Electropedia - www.electropedia.org

The world's leading online dictionary of electronic and electrical terms containing 21/000 terms and definitions in English and French, with equivalent terms in 16 additional languages. Also known as the International Electrotechnical Vocabulary (IEV) online.

IEC Glossary - std.iec.ch/glossary

67 000 electrotechnical terminology entries in English and French extracted from the Terms and Definitions clause of IEC publications issued since 2002. Some entries have been collected from earlier publications of IEC TC 37, 77, 86 and CISPR.

IEC Customer Service Centre - webstore.iec.ch/csc

If you wish to give us your feedback on this publication or need further assistance, please contact the Customer Service Centre: sales@jec.ch.

A propos de l'IEC

La Commission Electrotechnique Internationale (IEC) est la première organisation mondiale qui élabore et publie des Normes internationales pour tout ce qui a trait à l'électricité, à l'électronique et aux technologies apparentées.

A propos des publications IEC

Le contenu technique des publications IEC est constamment revu. Veuillez vous assurer que vous possédez l'édition la plus récente, un corrigendum ou amendement peut avoir été publié.

Catalogue IEC - webstore.iec.ch/catalogue

Application autonome pour consulter tous les renseignements bibliographiques sur les Normes internationales, Spécifications techniques, Rapports techniques et autres documents de l'IEC. Disponible pour PC, Mac OS, tablettes Android et iPad.

Recherche de publications IEC -

webstore.iec.ch/advsearchform

La recherche avancée permet de trouver des publications IEC en utilisant différents critères (numéro de référence, texte, comité d'études,...). Elle donne aussi des informations sur les projets et les publications remplacées ou retirées.

IEC Just Published - webstore.iec.ch/justpublished

Restez informé sur les nouvelles publications IEC. Just Published détaille les nouvelles publications parues. Disponible en ligne et aussi une fois par mois par email.

Electropedia - www.electropedia.org

Le premier dictionnaire en ligne de termes électroniques et électriques. Il contient 21 000 termes et définitions en anglais et en français, ainsi que les termes équivalents dans 16 langues additionnelles. Egalement appelé Vocabulaire Electrotechnique International (IEV) en ligne.

Glossaire IEC - std.iec.ch/glossary

67 000 entrées terminologiques électrotechniques, en anglais et en français, extraites des articles Termes et Définitions des publications IEC parues depuis 2002. Plus certaines entrées antérieures extraites des publications des CE 37, 77, 86 et CISPR de l'IEC.

Service Clients - webstore.iec.ch/csc

Si vous désirez nous donner des commentaires sur cette publication ou si vous avez des questions contactez-nous: sales@iec.ch.



Edition 5.0 2018-04

INTERNATIONAL STANDARD

NORME INTERNATIONALE

Sound system equipmen STANDARD PREVIEW Part 3: Amplifiers (standards.iteh.ai)

Équipements pour systèmes électroacoustiques –

Partie 3: Amplificateurs dards.iteh.ai/catalog/standards/sist/95e27198-187b-4903-8d68-0e88a804c24c/iec-60268-3-2018

INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

COMMISSION ELECTROTECHNIQUE INTERNATIONALE

ICS 33.160.10 ISBN 978-2-8322-6243-6

Warning! Make sure that you obtained this publication from an authorized distributor.

Attention! Veuillez vous assurer que vous avez obtenu cette publication via un distributeur agréé.

CONTENTS

| FOI | REWORD | 5 |
|-----|--|----|
| 1 | Scope | 7 |
| 2 | Normative references | 7 |
| 3 | Terms, definitions and rated values | 8 |
| 3 | 3.1 Terms and definitions | |
| | 3.2 Rated values | |
| 4 | Conditions | |
| _ | 1.1 Rated conditions and standard measuring conditions | |
| | 4.1.1 Overview | |
| | 4.1.2 Rated conditions | |
| | 4.1.3 Standard measuring conditions | |
| 4 | 4.2 Other conditions | |
| 5 | Classes of operation | |
| 6 | Interchangeable parts | |
| 7 | Automatic controls | |
| 8 | Power supply | |
| - | Position of the volume controls | |
| 9 | | |
| 10 | Pre-conditioning for measurements ID.A.R.D. P.R.E.V.IE.W. | |
| 11 | Series of measurements (standards.iteh.ai) | 12 |
| 12 | Variable consumption apparatus | 12 |
| 13 | Marking <u>IEC 60268-3:2018</u> | 13 |
| 14 | Operating environment and ards. iteh. ai/catalog/standards/sist/95e27198-187b-4903- | 13 |
| 15 | 8d68-0e88a804c24c/iec-60268-3-2018 Characteristics to be specified, and their methods of measurement | 13 |
| | 15.1 Power supply characteristics | |
| | 15.1.1 Characteristics to be specified | |
| | 15.1.2 Method of measurement | |
| | 15.2 Tolerance of (long-term) power supply voltage variations | 14 |
| | 15.2.1 Characteristic to be specified | 14 |
| | 15.2.2 Methods of measurement | 15 |
| • | 15.3 Tolerance of power supply frequency variations | 15 |
| | 15.3.1 Characteristics to be specified | 15 |
| | 15.3.2 Methods of measurement | 16 |
| • | 15.4 Tolerance of power supply harmonics and ripple | 16 |
| | 15.4.1 Characteristics to be specified | |
| | 15.4.2 Methods of measurement | |
| • | 15.5 Input characteristics | |
| | 15.5.1 Rated source impedance, characteristic to be specified | |
| | 15.5.2 Input impedance | |
| | 15.5.3 Rated source e.m.f., characteristic to be specified | |
| | 15.5.4 Minimum source e.m.f. for rated distortion-limited output voltage | |
| • | 15.6 Output characteristics | |
| | 15.6.1 Rated load impedance, characteristic to be specified | |
| | 15.6.2 Output source impedance | |
| | 15.6.3 Output voltage and power (distortion-limited) | |
| | 15.6.4 Maximum effective output power (distortion-limited at 10 %) | 22 |

| 15.6.5 | Regulation | 23 | | | | |
|-------------------------------|---|----|--|--|--|--|
| 15.6.6 | Overload restoring time | 24 | | | | |
| 15.7 Lim | niting characteristics | 24 | | | | |
| 15.7.1 | Overload source e.m.f. | 24 | | | | |
| 15.7.2 | Short-term maximum output voltage and power | 24 | | | | |
| 15.7.3 | Long-term maximum output voltage and power | 25 | | | | |
| 15.7.4 | Temperature-limited output power | 26 | | | | |
| 15.8 Cha | aracteristics of protection circuits | 27 | | | | |
| 15.8.1 | General | 27 | | | | |
| 15.8.2 | Protection against potentially damaging combinations of output voltage and current | 27 | | | | |
| 15.8.3 | Characteristics of d.c. offset protection circuits | 28 | | | | |
| 15.9 Sus | staining-time for rated (distortion-limited) output voltage or power | 29 | | | | |
| 15.9.1 | General | 29 | | | | |
| 15.9.2 | Characteristic to be specified | 31 | | | | |
| 15.9.3 | Method of measurement | 31 | | | | |
| 15.10 Ga | in | 31 | | | | |
| 15.10.1 | Voltage gain and e.m.f. gain | 31 | | | | |
| 15.10.2 | Maximum e.m.f. gain | 31 | | | | |
| 15.10.3 | Attenuation characteristic of the volume control | | | | | |
| 15.10.4 | Attenuation characteristic of balance controls for multi-channel | | | | | |
| | Attenuation characteristic of balance controls for multi-channel equipment | | | | | |
| 15.11 Res | sponse (standards.iteh.ai) | 33 | | | | |
| 15.11.1 | Gain-frequency response | 33 | | | | |
| 15.11.2 | Gain-limited effective frequency ranges | 33 | | | | |
| 15.11.3 | Distortion-limited effective frequency range 27198-187b-4903-8468-0e88a804c24c/iec-60268-3-2018 Phase-frequency response | 34 | | | | |
| 15.11.4 | Phase-frequency response Phase-frequency response | 34 | | | | |
| 15.12 Amplitude non-linearity | | | | | | |
| 15.12.1 | General | 34 | | | | |
| 15.12.2 | Rated total harmonic distortion, characteristic to be specified | 35 | | | | |
| 15.12.3 | Total harmonic distortion under standard measuring conditions | 35 | | | | |
| 15.12.4 | Total harmonic distortion as a function of amplitude and frequency | 35 | | | | |
| 15.12.5 | Harmonic distortion of the <i>n</i> th order under standard measuring conditions | | | | | |
| 15.12.6 | Harmonic distortion of the n th order as a function of amplitude and frequency | 37 | | | | |
| 15.12.7 | Modulation distortion of the n th order (where $n = 2$ or $n = 3$) | 37 | | | | |
| 15.12.8 | Difference-frequency distortion of the n th order (where $n = 2$ or $n = 3$) | 39 | | | | |
| 15.12.9 | Dynamic intermodulation distortion (DIM) | 40 | | | | |
| 15.12.10 | Total difference frequency distortion | 42 | | | | |
| 15.12.11 | • | | | | | |
| 15.13 Noi | se | 44 | | | | |
| 15.13.1 | Characteristic to be specified | 44 | | | | |
| 15.13.2 | Method of measurement | 45 | | | | |
| 15.14 Hui | m | 45 | | | | |
| 15.14.1 | General | 45 | | | | |
| 15.14.2 | Characteristics to be specified | 45 | | | | |
| 15.14.3 | Method of measurement | 46 | | | | |
| 15.15 Bal | anced inputs and outputs | 46 | | | | |
| 15 15 1 | Palance of the input | 16 | | | | |

| 15.15.2 Overload (distortion-limited) peak-to-peak common-mode input | voltage47 |
|---|------------|
| 15.15.3 Balance of the output | 48 |
| 15.16 Cross-talk and separation in multi-channel amplifiers | 49 |
| 15.16.1 Characteristics to be specified | 49 |
| 15.16.2 Method of measurement | 50 |
| 15.17 Gain and phase differences between channels in multi-channel amp | olifiers51 |
| 15.17.1 Gain difference | |
| 15.17.2 Phase difference | |
| 15.18 Dimensions and mass, characteristics to be specified | |
| Annex A (informative) Balanced interfaces | 58 |
| Annex B (informative) Specification of a multi-channel amplifier | 59 |
| B.1 General | 59 |
| B.2 Example specification of a 5.1 channel amplifier | 59 |
| B.3 Example specification of a 5 channel amplifier | 59 |
| Bibliography | 61 |
| Figure 1 – Example block diagram for multi-channel amplifier | 52 |
| Figure 2 – Connection diagram of equipment for digital input | 52 |
| Figure 3 – Arrangements for the Class D amplifier | 53 |
| Figure 4 – Arrangements for measuring input impedance | 53 |
| Figure 5 – Oscillogram when measuring overload restoring time | 54 |
| Figure 6 – Protection against potentially damaging combinations of output volt | age and |
| currentIEC 60268-3:2018 | |
| Figure 7 - Arrangement for combining two input signals 5.271.98-1876-4903 | 55 |
| Figure 8 – Frequency spectrum below 30 kHz of the signal for measuring dyna | amic |
| intermodulation distortion | |
| Figure 9 – Arrangement for measuring the balance of a balanced input | |
| Figure 10 – Arrangement for measuring the internal impedance balance of a b | |
| output | |
| Figure 11 – Arrangement for measuring the voltage symmetry of a balanced o | • |
| Figure B.1 – Block diagram for a 5.1 channel surround amplifier | |
| Figure B.2 – Block diagram for a 5 channel surround amplifier | 60 |
| Table 1 – Different rated total harmonic distortion and rated distortion-limited | |
| power specifications for the same amplifier | |
| Table 2 – Distortion components due to dynamic intermodulation distortion fall the frequency range up to 20 kHz | • |

INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

SOUND SYSTEM EQUIPMENT -

Part 3: Amplifiers

FOREWORD

- 1) The International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) is a worldwide organization for standardization comprising all national electrotechnical committees (IEC National Committees). The object of IEC is to promote international co-operation on all questions concerning standardization in the electrical and electronic fields. To this end and in addition to other activities, IEC publishes International Standards, Technical Specifications, Technical Reports, Publicly Available Specifications (PAS) and Guides (hereafter referred to as "IEC Publication(s)"). Their preparation is entrusted to technical committees; any IEC National Committee interested in the subject dealt with may participate in this preparatory work. International, governmental and non-governmental organizations liaising with the IEC also participate in this preparation. IEC collaborates closely with the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) in accordance with conditions determined by agreement between the two organizations.
- 2) The formal decisions or agreements of IEC on technical matters express, as nearly as possible, an international consensus of opinion on the relevant subjects since each technical committee has representation from all interested IEC National Committees.
- 3) IEC Publications have the form of recommendations for international use and are accepted by IEC National Committees in that sense. While all reasonable efforts are made to ensure that the technical content of IEC Publications is accurate, IEC cannot be held responsible for the way in which they are used or for any misinterpretation by any end user.
- 4) In order to promote international uniformity, IEC National Committees undertake to apply IEC Publications transparently to the maximum extent possible in their national and regional publications. Any divergence between any IEC Publication and the corresponding national or regional publication shall be clearly indicated in the latter.
- https://standards.itch.ai/catalog/standards/sist/95e27198-187b-49035) IEC itself does not provide any attestation of conformity. Independent certification bodies provide conformity assessment services and, in some areas, access to IEC marks of conformity. IEC is not responsible for any services carried out by independent certification bodies.
- 6) All users should ensure that they have the latest edition of this publication.
- 7) No liability shall attach to IEC or its directors, employees, servants or agents including individual experts and members of its technical committees and IEC National Committees for any personal injury, property damage or other damage of any nature whatsoever, whether direct or indirect, or for costs (including legal fees) and expenses arising out of the publication, use of, or reliance upon, this IEC Publication or any other IEC Publications.
- 8) Attention is drawn to the Normative references cited in this publication. Use of the referenced publications is indispensable for the correct application of this publication.
- 9) Attention is drawn to the possibility that some of the elements of this IEC Publication may be the subject of patent rights. IEC shall not be held responsible for identifying any or all such patent rights.

International Standard IEC 60268-3 has been prepared by IEC technical committee 100: Audio, video and multimedia systems and equipment.

This fifth edition cancels and replaces the fourth edition published in 2013. This edition constitutes a technical revision.

This edition includes the following significant technical changes with respect to the previous edition:

- a) rated condition of digital input is newly specified;
- b) tolerance of rated power supply is changed;
- c) maximum effective output power is appended to output characteristics list;
- d) "Terms, definitions and rated values" clause is complemented.

This bilingual version (2018-12) corresponds to the English version, published in 2018-04.

The text of this standard is based on the following documents:

| CDV | Report on voting |
|--------------|------------------|
| 100/2960/CDV | 100/3069/RVC |

Full information on the voting for the approval of this standard can be found in the report on voting indicated in the above table.

This document has been drafted in accordance with the ISO/IEC Directives, Part 2.

A list of all parts in the IEC 60268 series, published under the general title *Sound system equipment*, can be found on the IEC website.

This part of IEC 60268 shall be used in conjunction with IEC 60268-1:1985 and IEC 60268-2:1987.

The committee has decided that the contents of this document will remain unchanged until the stability date indicated on the IEC website under "http://webstore.iec.ch" in the data related to the specific document. At this date, the document will be

- reconfirmed,
- withdrawn,
- replaced by a revised edition, or ANDARD PREVIEW
- amended.

(standards.iteh.ai)

IEC 60268-3:2018

The French version of this standard has not been voted upon 98-187b-4903-

SOUND SYSTEM EQUIPMENT -

Part 3: Amplifiers

Scope

This part of IEC 60268 applies to analogue amplifiers, and the analogue parts of analogue/digital amplifiers, which form part of a sound system for professional or household applications. It specifies the characteristics that should be included in specifications of amplifiers and the corresponding methods of measurement.

NOTE The methods of measurement for digital amplifiers and similar equipment are given in IEC 61606 [1] 1.

In general, the specified methods of measurement are those which are seen to be most directly related to the characteristics. This does not exclude the use of other methods that give equivalent results.

In general, the methods are based on the simplest measuring equipment which can provide useful results. This does not exclude the use of more complex equipment that can give higher accuracy and/or allow automatic measurement and recording of results.

iTeh STANDARD PREVIEW

Rated conditions and standard measuring conditions are specified in order to allow measurements to be reliably repeated notation. 11eh. 21)

2

Normative references https://standards.iteh.ai/catalog/standards/sist/95e27198-187b-4903-

8d68-0e88a804c24c/iec-60268-3-2018
The following documents are referred to in the text in such a way that some or all of their content constitutes requirements of this document. For dated references, only the edition cited applies. For undated references, the latest edition of the referenced document (including any amendments) applies.

IEC 60065:2014, Audio, video and similar electronic apparatus – Safety requirements

IEC 60268-1:1985, Sound system equipment – Part 1: General

IEC 60268-1:1985/AMD1:1988 IEC 60268-1:1985/AMD2:1988

IEC 60268-2:1987, Sound system equipment - Part 2: Explanation of general terms and calculation methods

Amendment 1:1991

IEC 60417:2002, Graphical symbols for use on equipment - 12-month subscription to regularly updated online database comprising all graphical symbols published in IEC 60417

IEC 60958:2016 (all parts), Series, Digital audio interface

¹ Numbers in square brackets refer to the Bibliography.

IEC 61000-4-13:2002, Electromagnetic compatibility (EMC) – Part 4-13: Testing and measurement techniques – Harmonics and interharmonics including mains signalling at a.c. power port, low frequency immunity tests

IEC 61000-4-13:2002/AMD1:2009 IEC 61000-4-13:2002/AMD2:2015

IEC 61000-4-17:1999, Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC) – Part 4-17: Testing and measurement techniques – Ripple on d.c. input power port immunity test

IEC 61000-4-17:1999/AMD1:2001 IEC 61000-4-17:1999/AMD2:2008

IEC 61000-4-29:2000, Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC) – Part 4-29: Testing and measurement techniques – Voltage dips, short interruptions and voltage variations on d.c. input power ports immunity tests

IEC 61606-1:2009, Audio and audiovisual equipment – Digital audio parts – Basic measurement methods of audio characteristics – Part 1: General

IEC 61883-6:2014, Consumer audio/video equipment – Digital interface – Part 6: Audio and music data transmission protocol

IEC 61938:2013, Multimedia systems – Guide to the recommended characteristics of analogue interfaces to achieve interoperability

iTeh STANDARD PREVIEW

3 Terms, definitions and rated values (standards.iteh.ai)

3.1 Terms and definitions

IEC 60268-3:2018

For the purposes of this document, the following terms and definitions apply.

8d68-0e88a804c24c/iec-60268-3-2018

ISO and IEC maintain terminological databases for use in standardization at the following addresses:

- IEC Electropedia: available at http://www.electropedia.org/
- ISO Online browsing platform: available at http://www.iso.org/obp

3.1.1

class A

class of operation in which the current in each active device supplying the load current is greater than zero throughout each cycle of the signal for all values of load current up to, and including, the value determined by the rated output power or voltage and the rated load impedance

3.1.2

class B

class of operation in which the current in each active device supplying the load current is equal to zero for exactly one-half of each cycle of load current

Note 1 to entry: In common usage, the term Class B is extended to the case where current flows for slightly more than one half-cycle.

Note 2 to entry: Classes G and H are modifications of class B with improved efficiency.

3.1.3

class AB

class of operation in which the current in at least one of the active devices supplying the load current is zero for some part of each cycle of load current for some range of values of load current not exceeding the value defined by the rated output power or voltage and the rated load impedance

Note 1 to entry: At sufficiently low signal levels, a Class AB amplifier usually operates in Class A.

3.1.4

class D

class of operation in which all active power devices are switched between fully on and fully off at a rate faster than the highest frequency of interest, and where the wanted signal is encoded in the switching pattern

Note 1 to entry: Other classes of operation have been commercialized but no formal definitions of such classes have been submitted for standardization.

3.2 Rated values

A full explanation of the term "rated" is given in IEC 60268-2.

The rated conditions for amplifiers are:

- rated power supply voltage;
- rated source impedance;
- rated source e.m.f.;
- rated load impedance;
- rated total harmonic distortion, or rated (distortion-limited) output voltage or power;
- rated mechanical and climatic conditions.

NOTE 1 Total harmonic distortion and (distortion-limited) output voltage or power are interdependent. Both cannot be taken as rated conditions simultaneously because normally a given sample amplifier produces less than rated total harmonic distortion at rated output voltage or power.

NOTE 2 If the power supply frequency is critical, it is also a rated condition.

IEC 60268-3:2018

To obtain the correct conditions for measurements, the values for the above-mentioned rated conditions shall be taken from the manufacturer's specification. These values themselves are not subject to measurement but they constitute the basis for measuring the other characteristics.

Methods of measurement for these other characteristics are given in this document and the manufacturer is either required or permitted to state 'rated values' for these characteristics in the specification of the equipment. These include

- rated voltage gain;
- rated distortion limited output voltage or power (when not adopted as a rated condition);
- rated signal-to-noise ratio;
- rated equivalent noise source e.m.f.

4 Conditions

4.1 Rated conditions and standard measuring conditions

4.1.1 Overview

For convenience in specifying how amplifiers shall be set up for measurement, sets of conditions are specified in this document, under the titles of "Rated conditions" and "Standard measuring conditions".

4.1.2 Rated conditions

4.1.2.1 Analogue input

An amplifier, considered as a four-terminal network with regard to a specified pair of input terminals and a specified pair of output terminals, shall be understood to be working under rated conditions when the following conditions are fulfilled:

- a) the amplifier is connected to its rated power supply;
- b) the source e.m.f. is connected in series with the rated source impedance to the input terminals;
 - NOTE 1 Multi-channel amplifiers can be specified with any number of channels driven, or all channels. See Annex B. The input signal can be applied simultaneously to all inputs of similar channels.
- c) the output terminals are terminated with the rated load impedance;
 - NOTE 2 For the measurement of Class D amplifiers, the low pass filter can be connected between the analyser and the rated load impedance. The low pass filter (analogue) is given in IEC 61606-1 (see Figure 3).
- d) the terminals which are not used during the measurement are terminated, if necessary, as specified by the manufacturer;
- e) the source e.m.f. is a sinusoidal voltage equal to the rated source e.m.f. at an appropriate frequency. Unless there is a special reason to the contrary, this frequency shall be the standard reference frequency of 1 000 Hz according to IEC 60268-1.
 - Such a reason could be that the standard reference frequency is outside or near the limit of the effective frequency range of the amplifier; preview
- f) the volume control, if any, is set to such a position that the rated distortion-limited output voltage appears at the output terminals ards.iteh.ai)
- g) the tone controls, if any, are set to a specified position to give the specified frequency response, generally the flat frequency response 118
- h) the balance control(s), if any, is (are) set to the mechanical central position;
- i) the rated mechanical and climatic conditions according to IEC 60268-1 are complied with.

Figure 1 shows block diagrams of amplifiers with some rated conditions stated.

Amplifiers for which the rated distortion-limited output power exceeds the rated temperature-limited output power are likely to be subject to overheating when operated under rated conditions for an extended period of time. For these amplifiers, rated conditions shall be maintained for no longer than can be tolerated by the amplifier.

4.1.2.2 Digital input

The amplifier and measuring instrument is connected as shown in Figure 2. The input signal is a digital audio signal and the output signal is an analogue signal. All the digital specifications are described in IEC 61606-1. The digital interface can be according to IEC 60958 or IEC 61883-6, or other interfaces having the same specification as in 3.1 of IEC 61606-1. The source e.m.f. for digital input is the signal level of the digital sine signal generator specified in 4.6.2 of IEC 61606-1:2009:

- a) the amplifier is connected to its rated power supply;
- b) input signal is adjusted to:
 - frequency: 997 Hz;
 - signal level: full-scale level.
 - NOTE 1 Multi-channel amplifiers can be specified with any number of channels driven, or all channels. See Annex B. The input signal can be applied simultaneously to all inputs of similar channels.
 - NOTE 2 The standard reference frequency of 997 Hz is according to 4.3 of IEC 61606-1:2009.
- c) the output terminals are terminated with the rated load impedance;

NOTE 3 For the measurement of Class D amplifiers, the low pass filter can be connected between the analyser and the rated load impedance. The low pass filter (analogue) is given in IEC 61606-1 (see Figure 2).

- d) the terminals that are not used during the measurement are terminated, if necessary, as specified by the manufacturer;
- e) the volume control, if any, is set to such a position that the rated distortion-limited output voltage appears at the output terminals;
- f) the tone controls, if any, are set to a specified position to give the specified frequency response, generally the flat frequency response;
- g) the balance control(s), if any, is (are) set to the mechanical central position;
- h) the rated mechanical and climatic conditions according to IEC 60268-1 are complied with.

Amplifiers for which the rated distortion-limited output power exceeds the rated temperature-limited output power are likely to be subject to overheating when operated under rated conditions for an extended period of time. For these amplifiers, rated conditions shall be maintained for no longer than can be tolerated by the amplifier.

4.1.3 Standard measuring conditions

These are obtained by bringing the amplifier under rated conditions (see 4.1.2) and then reducing the source e.m.f. to a level of -10 dB referred to the rated source e.m.f.

4.2 Other conditions

If supplementary data of the amplifier are presented, applying to other than the rated or standard measuring conditions, for example at different frequencies or at different settings of controls, then the conditions shall be fully defined in the presentation. These conditions shall, if possible, be chosen according to the recommendations made in the relevant clauses of this document.

<u>IEC 60268-3:2018</u>

The procedures for supplementary measurements may be derived from the measurement procedures given for the standard conditions. If special precautions are necessary to ensure accuracy, these shall be indicated together with the measurement procedure involved.

5 Classes of operation

Amplifier classes are classified according to the operation of an amplifying stage. These classes are defined as Class A, Class B, Class AB and Class D; detailed definitions are given in 3.1.

6 Interchangeable parts

For type measurements, interchangeable parts shall have characteristics as close as is reasonably practicable to the mean characteristics specified for these parts.

For measurements on a particular sample, the interchangeable parts supplied with that amplifier shall be used.

7 Automatic controls

The amplifier may contain automatic control circuits such as limiters, compressors, expanders and electronic fader circuits. These circuits make certain characteristics of the amplifier dependent either on a signal passing through the amplifier itself or on an external control signal. When measuring the characteristics of such an amplifier, the automatic control circuits shall be disabled, except when measuring their characteristics.

8 Power supply

Measurements shall be made with the amplifier connected to rated power supply. Care shall be taken to maintain the power supply voltage at the rated value during the measurement. The tolerance of the supply voltages should be \pm 1 % or less. A tolerance of up to \pm 10 % may be allowed if the results of the measurements are not noticeably affected.

Additional measurements may be made at the upper and lower limits claimed as tolerable for the power supply voltage, the power supply frequency and the a.c. power supply harmonics or the d.c. power supply ripple.

WARNING – The power supply voltage tolerances specified by the manufacturer shall not be exceeded.

9 Position of the volume controls

If a characteristic is measured at only one position of the volume control, the control shall be at the position corresponding to rated conditions (see 4.1.2), unless a maximum or minimum position of the control is inherent in the characteristic to be measured.

If the characteristic is to be measured for several settings of the volume control, then the position for rated conditions shall be included, other preferred settings being maximum, and -3 dB, -6 dB, -10 dB, -20 dB and -40 dB with respect to the setting for rated conditions.

Volume controls belonging to channels not being measured shall, if possible, be put in the minimum position, unless otherwise stated.

IEC 60268-3:2018

10 Pre-conditioning for measurements tandards/sist/95e27198-187b-4903-

8d68-0e88a804c24c/jec-60268-3-2018

Before beginning measurements on an amplifier, it shall be operated under approximately standard measuring conditions for a period of 1 h, or as specified by the manufacturer.

Before operating the amplifier the manufacturer's instructions concerning initial operation should be studied.

The amplifier is then brought under standard measuring conditions (see 4.1.3). Due to internal heating, the output voltage may subsequently vary with time. Unless excessive, this effect is ignored during the pre-conditioning period. When the pre-conditioning period is over, the amplifier shall be brought under rated conditions or standard measuring conditions, as required.

11 Series of measurements

If a series of measurements is made, the amplifier should preferably be maintained under standard measuring conditions in the periods between measurements.

If the amplifier has to be put out of operation for an extended period between measurements, then pre-conditioning according to Clause 10 shall be repeated before each set of measurements, unless this can be shown to be unnecessary.

12 Variable consumption apparatus

Sound system equipment shall be considered as variable consumption apparatus if it contains one or more power amplifiers operating in the Class AB, B, or D modes, in which the d.c.

power supply for the output stages is either electronically regulated by means of series control elements or is not regulated.

NOTE 1 Variable consumption apparatus is defined in IEC $60065:1976^{2}$ as "apparatus in which the power consumption can vary by more than 15 % due to changes in load impedances of the output circuit or in signal parameters", but no definition appears in later editions.

NOTE 2 Where the d.c. supply is regulated by shunt control elements, the power consumption is usually, if not always, substantially constant. The apparatus, however, behaves in some respects as a variable consumption apparatus, and, in particular, the text of 15.7.4.1 still applies.

All the measurements contained in this document may be performed on variable consumption apparatus, in most cases with no special problems. However, certain problems may occur in the measurement of hum and rated distortion-limited output power, and some additional measurements are valuable in assessing the performance of such apparatus (see the note of 15.6.3.1 and item c) of 15.14.3).

13 Marking

Principles for marking the terminals and controls are given in IEC 60268-1.

Marking may concern:

- personal safety and prevention of spread of fire, in the sense of IEC 60065;
- safety in case of faulty connections; DARD PREVIEW
- indications relating to normal operation, according to IEC 60417.

Marking can neither prevent incorrect operation nor provide complete operating instructions. It therefore has to be considered in conjunction with adequate means for preventing dangerous or faulty operation, and with the directions for use included in the user's instructions. Care should be taken that marking is unambiguous and as clearly understandable as possible.

Terminals for the interconnection of equipment, which are inaccessible without the use of a tool when the equipment has been installed, shall be clearly and unambiguously identified with respect to the manufacturer's instructions for installation. It may be assumed that these instructions are to be read by adequately skilled personnel.

14 Operating environment

Measurements, especially those including temperature measurements, shall be carried out with the amplifier mounted in a situation similar to that in which it is to be used. Restrictions on mounting and special ventilation requirements shall be stated by the manufacturer and form part of the rated conditions (see 4.1.2). See also IEC 60065 or other appropriate IEC safety standard.

15 Characteristics to be specified, and their methods of measurement

15.1 Power supply characteristics

15.1.1 Characteristics to be specified

The following information shall (except where indicated as optional) be stated by the manufacturer in the locations indicated, for each pair of terminals to be connected to the power supply and for each position of the power supply voltage selector, if any:

² IEC 60065:1976, Safety requirements for mains operated electronic and related apparatus for household and similar general use